FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/14/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 97755-1 Court of Appeals No. 77500-6-I (King County Superior Court Case No. 17-2-23799-0)

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION ONE

BURIEN COMMUNITIES FOR INCLUSION,

Respondent and Plaintiff Below,

v.

RESPECT WASHINGTON,

Petitioner, Appellant and Defendant Below,

and

KING COUNTY ELECTIONS; JULIE WISE, KING COUNTY DIRECTOR OF ELECTIONS, in her official capacity at KING COUNTY ELECTIONS, and the CITY OF BURIEN,

Defendants Below.

PETITION FOR REVIEW (Corrected)

I. Identity of Petitioner

Petitioner Respect Washington is the sponsor of Measure 1, an initiative to the City of Burien and a defendant and appellant below.

II. Decision of the Court of Appeals

Respect Washington seeks review of the September 9, 2019,
Court of Appeals decision in *Burien Communities for Inclusion v.*Respect Wash., No. 77500-6-1 (Ct. App. Sept. 9, 2019) (Decision).
A copy of the Decision is attached hereto as Appendix A.

II. Issues Presented for Review

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals err in concluding that the First Amendment provides no protection for the voters of the City to express their views at the polls whether in criticism or support of an issue of public controversy?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals err in concluding that fear of public discourse was sufficient injury to justify an injunction prohibiting people from expressing their views by casting ballots?

- 3. Did the Court of Appeals err in concluding that Measure 1 was beyond the scope of the initiative power in that it was administrative in nature or that it was withheld by the Legislature in giving exclusive authority to the City Council to govern all actions of City employees?
- 4. Did the Court of Appeals err by approving the last minute filing of lawsuits seeking to enjoin election matters within days of printing the ballots?

III. Statement of the Case

On January 9, 2017, the Burien City Council enacted
Ordinance 651, creating Burien Municipal Code ("BMC")
2.26.010-.30. This provision prohibited city employees from
initiating any inquiry into individuals' citizenship or immigration
status. In common parlance, Burien was establishing itself as a
"Sanctuary City." As in other locations, the Sanctuary City
status was a subject of substantial local controversy.

Some citizens in Burien opposed to the Sanctuary City ordinance began gathering signatures on an initiative to repeal the recent enactment. Using an existing organization, Respect Washington, they submitted signed petitions to the City. Two weeks later the King County Department of Elections found

sufficient signatures on the ballot. On August 7, 2017, the City Council voted to place Measure 1 on the ballot.

On Friday, September 8, 2017, Burien Citizens for Inclusion (BCI) sued Respect Washington, the City, the King County Elections Department and the Director of Elections seeking a declaration and injunction prohibiting placement of the initiative on the ballot. On Monday, September 11, 2017, BCI received a temporary restraining order prohibiting the placement of Measure 1 on the ballot. At the same time, a preliminary injunction motion was scheduled to be heard on Wednesday September 13, 2017. The deadline for printing ballots was Thursday September 14. On the morning of the deadline for sending ballots to the printer, September 14, the Superior Court issued an injunction prohibiting the placement of Measure 1 on the ballot.

Because the issuance of a preliminary injunction was not an appealable order, Respect Washington filed a Motion for Discretionary Review. The Court of Appeals Commissioner granted the motion and determined that the Motion would be treated as an appeal. On September 9, 2019, the Court of Appeals

issued the Decision attached as Appendix A, affirming the trial court decision.

V. Argument

The considerations governing acceptance of review in RAP 13.4(b) apply to this case because the decision below conflicts with decisions of this Court and other Courts of Appeals, a significant question of law under the First Amendment is involved, and the petition involves issues of substantial public interest regarding the standards and procedures which impact the right express one's views on the ballot. These considerations permeate the argument that follows.

- A. The Court should grant review to decide whether the prohibition of a vote on an initiative due to its subject matter violates the First Amendment rights of all voters to express their views at the polls.
- 1. The initiative process creates opportunity to have one's approval or disapproval about a controversial civic issue counted.

The gathering of signatures for an initiative is clearly an activity which the First Amendment protects. *Meyer v. Grant*, 486 U.S. 414 (1988). As the Supreme Court stated in *Mills v. State of Alabama*, "there is practically universal agreement that a

major purpose of [the First] Amendment was to protect the free discussion of governmental affairs." 384 U.S. 214, 218 (1966).

Initiatives by their very nature discuss governmental affairs;

Measure 1 is no different. A vote is the way all voters can express their support or disapproval of the initiative's message and the City's policies.

While there is no federal requirement that the state or a city provide an initiative process, when provided it is "obligated to do so in a manner consistent with the Constitution." *Meyer*, 486 U.S. at 420. The initiative process, as a whole, is protected political speech under the First Amendment. *Id. at* 421 (invalidating a state law making it a crime to pay people to solicit signatures on initiative petitions).

As to the manner in which political speech was burdened, the Supreme Court explained in *Meyer* that the state law made "it less likely that [the initiative proponents] will garner the number of signatures necessary to place the matter on the ballot, thus limiting their ability to make the matter the focus of statewide discussion." *Meyer*, 486 U.S. at 422.

Not only does allowing an initiative to be placed on the ballot encourage the free discussion of governmental affairs generally, but it also specifically allows people to express their views on the ballot and have their voice counted one way or the other on the particular governmental issue. The Superior Court's last minute injunction prohibiting placement of an initiative on the ballot despite compliance with all time, place and manner restrictions conflicts with these major decisions of the Supreme Court on an issue at the core of the First Amendment.

The more controversial the issue is, the greater is the incentive of political opponents to thwart efforts to bring the issue to a vote.

A lawsuit to strike an initiative or referendum from a ballot is one of the deadliest weapons in the arsenal of the measure's political opponents. With increasing frequency, opponents of ballot proposals are finding the weapon irresistible and are suing to stop elections.

John D. Gordon III and David B. Magleby, *Pre-Election Judicial Review of Initiatives and Referendums*, 64 NOTRE DAME L. REV. 298, 298 (1989). Not only do judicial injunctions prior to the election ensure the proposed ordinance is never enacted by the people, it

silences the people's views that would otherwise be expressed—and counted—at the polls.

[The dramatic power of an initiative that attains ballot status to shape the agenda of state and even national politics. This agenda-setting function comprises pressuring political actors, influencing candidate elections, fostering interest group and political party growth, and simply introducing an otherwise overlooked political position into the arena of public debate.

John Gildersleeve, Editing Direct Democracy: Does Limiting the Subject Matter of Ballot Initiatives Offend the First Amendment?, 107 COLUM. L. REV. 1437, 1464 (2007). This free speech function exists regardless of whether the initiative is within the scope of the initiative power and should be protected.

2. This Court has recognized the free speech impacts of a vote on even invalid initiatives.

In *Coppernoll v. Reed*, 155 Wn.2d 290 (2005), this Court observed that "after voter passage of [a specific initiative] ..., it was ruled invalid by the trial court. A nearly identical measure was quickly passed by the legislature and signed by the governor before an appeal could be heard." *Id.* at 296-97. "Because ballot measures are often used to express popular will and to send a message to elected representatives (regardless of potential

subsequent invalidation of the measure), substantive preelection review may also unduly infringe on free speech values." Id. at 298 (emphasis added). While this Court referred to "substantive preelection review" (based on asserted illegality of the initiative's provisions), the reality is that any action that prohibits a vote creates the same infringement on free speech values, whether on the validity of the substance of the initiative or on the initiative's validity as a legislative as opposed to administrative measure.

If the people of Burien resoundingly voted against Measure 1, it would send a message. If they resoundingly voted in favor, it would send a different message, but a message nonetheless. The manner in which the people of Burien express their views on a matter on the ballot is by voting, and the Court of Appeals decision ensures that particular opportunity for expression is halted solely based on the content of the initiative. Prohibiting a vote on the initiative based on the conclusion that what the proposal says is beyond the scope of the initiative power is a content-based restriction on speech.

While the Court of Appeals concluded that the initiative is not barred because of its content but rather because it is beyond the scope of the initiative power (Decision at 13), that conclusion is inconsistent with what it means to be based on content.

"Government regulation of speech is content based if a law applies to particular speech because of the topic discussed or the idea or message expressed." Reed v. Town of Gilbert, — U.S. ——, 135

S.Ct. 2218, 2227 (2015). While the injunction is supposedly not based on the policy of Measure 1, it is based on the wording of Measure 1—that it repeals a law which the Court believes is administrative in nature. It is a content-based decision.

3. The prohibition of a First Amendment-protected activity cannot be based on the unclear standards of the scope of the initiative power.

This Court has recognized that the distinction between administrative and legislative nature is a thin line. "Discerning whether a proposed initiative is administrative or legislative in nature can be difficult." *City of Port Angeles v. Our Water-Our Choice!*, 170 Wn.2d 1 (2010) (citations omitted).

In deciding, this Court used a phrase which seems on its face to suggest a contradictory standard: "a local government action is administrative if it furthers (*or hinders*) a plan the local government or some power superior to it has previously adopted."

Id. at 10 (emphasis added).

Because every measure that changes policy is likely to hinder or further some related city plan, the people of Washington have to operate under a vague standard—a situation long recognized to pose danger to the freedom of expression. See, e.g., Forsyth County v. Nationalist Movement, 505 U.S. 125, 130-31 (1992) (discretionary condition for access to public forum); Interstate Circuit, Inc. v. City of Dallas, 390 U.S. 676 (1968) (vague standard affecting First Amendment rights not cured by judicial review). This uncertain, content-based criterion makes the conflict between the Court of Appeals' decision and the Supreme Court's decisions on the First Amendment in the initiative context even more egregious.

The distinction between legislative and administrative matters is too thin a thread to suspend the weighty interests in public discourse and the tallying of public views on matters of public controversy. This is an issue that calls for this Court's resolution.

4. The First Amendment is not implicated by post-election review of initiatives.

The First Amendment creates no bar to judicial conclusions that an initiative fails to enact a law because it addresses administrative matters and not legislative ones after the election.

Determining that an initiative is ineffective to enact a new statute or ordinance after the election fully protects both the subject matter limits on the initiative process and the right of citizens to express their views on matters of public controversy.

The Court has found initiatives to be invalid after elections and that should be the process on every challenge in order to protect the First Amendment right to cast one's approval or disapproval. See Lee v. State, 185 Wn.2d 608 (2016); Amalgamated Transit Union Local 587 v. State, 142 Wn.2d 183 (2000). The Court of Appeals' decision in this case has silenced the people of Burien in the public forum of the ballot box and in the form of a prior restraint without undergoing any First Amendment scrutiny.

There is no First Amendment right to enact an invalid ordinance. However, '[t]here can be no more definite expression of opinion than by voting on a controversial public issue." *Miller v. Town of Hull,* 878 F.2d 523, 532 (1st Cir. 1989). This Court should grant this Petition to fully protect this right.

B. This petition presents this Court with an opportunity to issue much-needed clarification as to the standards for determining whether an initiative is within the scope of the initiative power.

As illustrated in the decision below, the application of the judicially created principle that a ballot measure must be legislative, rather than administrative, has resulted in a smorgasbord of factors that arise from the unique facts of each case to be weighed against each other with no longer a clear governing standard.

1. The distinction between legislative and administrative matters is not always clear.

This Court has repeatedly observed that determining whether an initiative is legislative or administrative is "difficult." *E.g.*, *Spokane Entrepreneurial Ctr. v. Spokane Moves to Amend the Constitution*, 185 Wn.2d 97, 107 (2016). This difficulty is compounded by the variety of rules that courts have applied. In *Citizens for Financially Responsible Gov't v. Spokane*, this Court reaffirmed two tests for determining whether an initiative is legislative or administrative:

(1) [a]ctions relating to subjects of a permanent and general character are usually regarded as legislative, and those providing for subjects of a temporary and special character are regarded as administrative" and (2) "[t]he

power to be exercised is legislative in its nature if it prescribes a new policy or plan."

99 Wn.2d 339, 347–48 (1983) (quoting 5 E. McQuillin, § 16.55, at 194) (numbering added). This is the longstanding two-part test. See Seattle Bldg. & Constr. Trades Council v. Seattle, 94 Wn.2d 740, 748 (1980); Ruano v. Spellman, 81 Wn.2d 820, 823 (1973); Durocher v. King Cty., 80 Wn.2d 139, 152–53 (1972).

Measure 1 would represent a new policy if passed at the polls and is not temporary in nature. It, like every measure, represents potential change. The Court should grant the petition to clarify the standards under which this right of the people to propose legislation operates.

2. The Court of Appeals has taken language out of this Court's decision in *Our Water—Our Choice!* to rule that any initiative that hinders or furthers City plans is banned thereby opening the door for prohibiting every initiative.

As addressed above, in deciding *Our Water-Our Choice!*, 170 Wn.2d 1, this Court used language that "local government action is administrative if it furthers (*or hinders*) a plan the local government or some power superior to it has previously adopted." *Id.* at 10 (emphasis added).

The Court of Appeals also takes the "or hinder" language out of context. To the extent that hindering an existing policy renders such hindering to be administrative makes perfect sense when referring to a plan that is required by a superior power, which was the case in *Our Water-Our Choice!*. That initiative would have interfered with water plans governed by "detailed state administrative regulations." 170 Wn.2d at 12 (and later citing Department of Health regulations).

Here, the Court of Appeals says Measure 1 would hinder preexisting City policies. Decision at 26. Under that standard every initiative would fail the test because the nature of the initiative process is to propose a change.

By ignoring the traditional test of legislative action, *i.e.*, permanent and policy-based, and elevating the reference to "hindering" a plan, the Court of Appeals ignored the context and rationale of this Court in *Our Water-Our Choice!*. Nonetheless, initiative opponents hold on to the "or hinder" reference in that case because every ballot measure that changes and thereby hinders any existing policy (which meets the traditional standard of being legislative) is now outside the scope of initiatives. The

Court of Appeals' reasoning virtually wipes out the initiative process because the imposition of any new policy by the people could be considered to "hinder" a pre-existing policy put in place by elected officials and eliminate direct democracy in Washington's legal traditions.

This new standard seems to constitute a drastic restriction on direct democracy if "hindering" a prior practice disqualifies the proposal from the ballot. For example, any initiative to decriminalize an activity that a city previously had made criminal would "hinder" the city's previous plan. The legalization of cannabis use, the change in a minimum wage, the ban on animal traps all changed or hindered a pre-existing plans.¹

The apparent conflict in the law here is obvious. Under Citizens for Financially Responsible Gov't, an initiative such as Proposition 1 that puts in place in new policy is legislative. Under the misreading of Our Water-Our Choice!, however, such an initiative is administrative because the new policy hinders the old policy, even though the initiative here purports only to remove a

¹See Initiative 502, Laws of 2013, ch. 3 (legalization of recreational marijuana); Filo Foods, LLC v. City of SeaTac, 183 Wn.2d 770 (2015) (initiative on minimum wage); Citizens for Responsible Wildlife Management v. State, 149 Wn.2d 622 (2003) (initiative banning animal trapping).

restriction. This issue needs resolution by this Court

3. The Court of Appeals conclusion that Measure 1 is beyond the scope of the initiative power because the legislature has delegated regulation of employees to the City Council conflicts with *Our Water—Our Choice!*, resulting in confusion.

The Court of Appeals concludes that RCW 35A.11.020 gives the power to regulate City employee conduct solely to the City Council and excludes the people through the initiative process. Decision at 20. In *Our Water—Our Choice!*, this Court recognized the problem with using this statute to conclude the legislature was intending to preclude initiatives because, to conclude that an initiative is invalid in that it affects municipal employees' functions, would render all initiatives at the city level invalid and the statute authorizing local initiatives "largely a nullity." *Our Water-Our Choice!*, 170 Wn.2d at 14 n.7 (citation omitted). The scope of this statute should be addressed by this Court because it potentially impacts all future initiatives.

C. This Court should review the Court of Appeals' conclusion that perceived harm from public discourse is sufficient injury to prohibit people from voting.

In order to obtain injunctive relief, a plaintiff must prove, among other requirements, that the action to be restrained would result in "actual and substantial injury." *Huff v. Wyman*,

184 Wn.2d 643, 651 (2015). A heightened standard of evidence must be met for a preliminary injunction against speech activities to be upheld. Fed. Way Family Physicians v. Tacoma Stands Up for Life, 106 Wn. 2d 261, 267 (1986).

The Court of Appeals recognized that the only claim BCI made to show injury sufficient to support an injunction was alleged injuries from having the public debate on Measure 1. Decision at 16-17. See, e.g., CP 105 ("The polarizing debate over Measure 1 has raised fears").

Can public debate over a ballot measure be an injury in fact under the law and, more importantly, can public debate over a ballot measure satisfy the heightened standard for injury required for an injunction? This Court should make clear that fear of public discourse over a controversial issue cannot be a legally sufficient injury to justify an injunction to stop a vote.

Then Judge Alexander when on the Court of Appeals recognized that the initiative process is far from perfect.

"The people have a right to adopt any system of government they see fit to adopt. In its workings, it may not meet their expectations; it may be unwieldy and cumbersome; it may tend to inconvenience and prodigality; it may be the expression of a passion or sentiment rather than of sound reason; but it is the people's government and, until changed by them, must be observed by the legislature and protected by the courts."

Save Our State Park v. Hordyk, 71 Wn. App. 84, 90 (1993) (quotations omitted)).

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