# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/8/2019 8:27 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 97755-1

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# RESPECT WASHINGTON, Appellant,

v.

BURIEN COMMUNITIES FOR INCLUSION, a Washington political committee; KING COUNTY ELECTIONS; JULIE WISE, KING COUNTY DIRECTOR OF ELECTIONS, in her official capacity at KING COUNTY ELECITONS; and THE CITY OF BURIEN Respondents.

# RESPONDENT BURIEN COMMUNITIES FOR INCLUSION'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jennifer L. Robbins, WSBA No. 40861 Dmitri Iglitzin, WSBA No. 17673 BARNARD IGLITZIN & LAVITT, LLP 18 West Mercer Street, Suite 400 Seattle, WA 98119

Attorneys for Burien Communities for Inclusion

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

This Court reviews questions of law *de novo*, including whether Proposition 1 exceeded the scope of the local initiative power. *City of Port Angeles v. Our Water-Our Choice!*, 170 Wn.2d 1, 7, 239 P.3d 589.

### II. None of the RAP 13.4(b) criteria have been met.

In addressing and rejecting numerous arguments asserted by Appellants, Division One of the Court of Appeals applied *Global Neighborhood v. Respect Washington*, 7 Wn. App. 2d 354, 434 P.3d 1024, *rev. denied* 193 Wn.2d 1019 (2019), to Respect Washington's claims. The Court noted that the timing of the complaint, TRO, and PI proceedings in relation to the deadline for printing ballots was different here than in *Global Neighborhood*, but Respect Washington's statute of limitations and laches challenges fail for the same reasons they failed in *Global Neighborhood*. Opinion at 5-9.

The Opinion also determined that the PI was based on the initiative exceeding the scope of the local initiative power, not the substance of the policy stance taken in it. Therefore, the Court held, the preliminary injunction keeping Measure 1 off the ballot did not violate the free speech rights of the City's voters and was proper because Measure 1 exceeds the scope of Burien's initiative power. Respect Washington attempted to distinguish this case from Port of Tacoma v. Save Tacoma Water, 4 Wn. App. 2d 562, 422 P.3d 917 (2018), rev. denied, 192 Wn.2d 1026 (2019). In the Opinion, this Court held that a distinction between Respect Washington's free speech rights, and the rights of the City's voters, is not meaningful. Opinion at 12. In holding that the PI does not violate the free speech rights of the City's voters, it likewise is consistent with—and does not conflict with—the Courts of Appeal in Global Neighborhood, 7 Wn. App. at 389-91, and Save Tacoma Water, 4 Wn. App. 2d at 577 Opinion at 11-13.

Also consistent with *Global Neighborhood*, 7 Wn. App. at 386-88, Division One held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding that Measure 1's placement on the ballot would result in actual and substantial injury based on the harms alleged in the declarations submitted by BCI. Opinion at 16-19. The Court distinguished *Clapper v. Amnesty International*, *USA*, 568 U.S. 398, 133 S. Ct. 1138, 185 L. Ed. 2d 264

(2013) from the facts of the instant case, as *Clapper* dealt with whether a party can "manufacture standing" based on "fears of hypothetical harm," *Id.* at 416, while this case specifically addresses whether residents would be harmed by Measure 1 appearing on the ballot and being passed—risks that this Court noted were "neither speculative nor manufactured." Opinion at 18-19.

This Court denied review of the Court of Appeals decision in *Global Neighborhood*. 193 Wn.2d 1019 (2019).

Respect Washington has requested review under RAP 13.4(b), paying lip service to the contention that the Court of Appeals' decision does not correctly apply prior decisions of this Court and of the Court of Appeals. In fact, however, Respect Washington bases its argument almost entirely on the assertion that conceded Washington precedent, as well as the ruling below, violates the First Amendment to the United States Constitution. *See generally*, Petition for Review. Respect Washington's arguments fail, and this Court should deny review.

Precedent of this Court confirms that limited pre-election judicial review of local initiatives is appropriate, and this case does not present issues requiring revisiting a substantial body of established precedent. Moreover, Respect Washington's efforts to challenge the settled law upon which the Court of Appeals decision rests based on an alleged

constitutional infirmity in those prior decisions requires it to ignore controlling and well-established case law. It therefore has not and cannot establish either the "substantial public interest" or "significant question of law" prongs of RAP 13.4(b).

# III. The Court of Appeals decision holding that Measure 1 was subject to preelection judicial review is consistent with this Court's decisions and with published Court of Appeals decisions.

Pre-election challenges asserting that an initiative is not within the scope of the legislative authority granted to local residents are an exception to the general reluctance of courts to review ballot initiatives before they have been enacted into law. *Spokane Entrepreneurial Ctr. v. Spokane Moves to Amend Constitution*, 185 Wn.2d 97, 100, 369 P.3d 140 (2016) (affirming trial court pre-election injunction striking from the ballot a measure that exceeded the scope of the local initiative power).

Although this Court has acknowledged the constitutional implications of pre-election review, the importance of courts not interfering in the electoral and legislative processes, and the need for courts to avoid rendering advisory opinions, it has repeatedly kept from the ballot in pre-election review those measures that exceed the scope of the power granted to local residents to engage in direct legislation. *Id.* at 104. It cannot seriously be disputed either that this is settled law or that the facts of the instant case fall squarely within the scope of pre-election

review that has been expressly and repeatedly permitted by this Court.

### IV. Respect Washington's arguments based on the First Amendment have no merit.

Respect Washington's unsupported contention that voters have an unrestricted First Amendment right to vote on even invalid ballot measures also flies in the face of settled law. Washington Courts of Appeal have repeatedly held that there is no First Amendment free speech right to place on the ballot an initiative that is beyond the scope of a local government's initiative power. Global Neighborhood, 7 Wn. App. at 389-91 (rejecting identical argument made by Appellant regarding nearly identical ballot measure); Port of Tacoma v. Save Tacoma Water, 4 Wn. App. 2d at 577; City of Longview v. Wallin, 174 Wn. App. 763, 790, 301 P.3d 45 (2013), rev. denied, 178 Wn.2d 1020 (2013) (because local initiative power derives from statute, not the state constitution, "the 'constitutional preeminence of the right of initiative' discussed in Coppernoll is not a concern in the present case and the local powers of initiative do not receive the same vigilant protection as the constitutional powers addressed in Coppernoll..."); accord Angle v. Miller, 673 F.3d 1122, 1133 (9th Cir. 2012) (holding that "[t]here is no First Amendment

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Coppernoll v. Reed, 155 Wn.2d 290, 296-97, 119 P.3d 318 (2005).

right to place an initiative on the ballot.").<sup>2</sup>

Appellant's effort to characterize a vote on a ballot measure as a "public forum" for speech, Petition for Review at 11, such that a preelection action to declare an initiative beyond the scope of the initiative power infringes on the First Amendment rights of petition and speech has already been rejected by the Court of Appeals.

Wallin nevertheless contends that "the initiative process, as a whole, is protected political speech under the First Amendment" and "the initiative process is a limited-public forum for political speech." Thus, he argues, preelection denial of requests to put any automated traffic safety camera related initiative on the ballot is an impermissible content restriction on speech in a public forum....Wallin asserts a First Amendment right to have any initiative, regardless of whether it is outside the scope of the initiative power, placed on the ballot. But he has failed to articulate a basis in law for this right when the protected political speech, obtaining signatures for the petition, was not impaired here. Accordingly, Wallin's First Amendment claims fail.

*City of Longview*, 174 Wn. App. at 791-92 (distinguishing cases involving restrictions on the circulation of ballot petitions for signatures).<sup>3</sup>

received a sufficient number of votes to pass." City of Longview, 174 Wn. App. at 782.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Courts have recognized that "requiring a city to place an invalid initiative on the ballot would result in an undue financial burden on local government," as allowing an initiative that exceeds the scope of the initiative power to be placed on the ballot would incur the costs of the election process for a measure that "could never take effect, even if it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Appellant has not even mentioned *City of Longview*, explained why it is not controlling, or why the court's holding that there is no First Amendment right that is infringed by a pre-election review challenging a local ballot measure as outside the scope of the City's initiative power does not apply equally to the public as it does to the petition sponsors

The foregoing cases establish that voters do not have a limitless First Amendment right to schedule an election and vote on any question at any time. *See also State v. Wilson*, 137 Wash. 125, 132-33, 241 P. 970 (1925); *Protect Marriage Ill. v. Orr*, 463 F.3d 604, 606 (7th Cir. 2006), *cert. denied*, 549 U.S. 1208, 1208 (2007) ("A state no more has a federal constitutional obligation to permit advisory questions on its ballot than it has to permit them to be painted on the walls of the state capitol."). Appellant does not meaningfully distinguish *Spokane Entrepreneurial Ctr.* or any of the authority cited therein, *Port of Tacoma*, or *City of Longview*, holding that there is no constitutional right to have an initiative that is beyond the scope of the initiative power go to the voters. Instead it quotes sweeping phrases out of context from inapposite cases.

There is no constitutional right to the placement of an invalid local measure on the ballot. "[P]reelection challenges regarding the scope of the initiative power address the fundamental question of whether the subject matter of the measure was 'proper for direct legislation.' It is well-settled that it is proper to bring such narrow challenges prior to an election." *City of Sequim v. Malkasian*, 157 Wn.2d 251, 255, 138 P.3d 943 (2006)

(

(which, of course, Respect Washington is). Instead, it continues its reliance on *Coppernoll*, ignoring that the Court of Appeals noted that "the Supreme Court in *Coppernoll* recognized an exception to the general prohibition on preelection review of an initiative 'where the subject matter of the measure was not proper for direct legislation." *Id.* at 790-91.

(internal citations omitted). The Court of Appeals correctly held that Appellant's First Amendment arguments to the contrary fail. Opinion at 13.

# V. The court below properly held that Measure 1 is invalid because it exceeds the scope of the City's initiative power because it is administrative in nature.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that Measure 1 is beyond the scope of the initiative power of the City of Burien and should be kept off the ballot because it is administrative in nature. Opinion at 27. "[A]dministrative matters, particularly local administrative matters, are not subject to initiative or referendum." *Spokane Entrepreneurial Center*, 185 Wn.2d at 107 (quoting *City of Port Angeles*, 170 Wn.2d at 8). While there are "several ways of determining whether an action [is] legislative or administrative," *City of Port Angeles*, 170 Wn.2d at 11, "[g]enerally speaking, a local government action is administrative if it furthers (or hinders) a plan the local government or some power superior to it has previously adopted." *Id.* at 10; *Spokane Entrepreneurial Center*, 185 Wn.2d at 107.

Thus, local initiatives like Measure 1 that modify or restrict laws or policies already put in place by the local legislative body like the Burien City Council are outside the scope of the local initiative power and are invalid. *See* Opinion at 22-27; *Global Neighborhood*, 7 Wn. App. at 391-

401 (holding that similar ballot measure by same proponent was invalid and properly enjoined because it is administrative in nature); Spokane Entrepreneurial Center, 185 Wn.2d at 107-08 (holding local measure was administrative and should not be put on the ballot where it would require any proposed zoning changes involving large developments to be approved by voters and was contrary to established water rights system); City of Port Angeles, 170 Wn.2d at 13-15 (holding initiatives concerned administrative matters because they attempted to "interfere with or effectively reverse" the implementation of city water fluoridation program) (emphasis added); Ruano v. Spellman, 81 Wn.2d 820, 825, 505 P.2d 447 (1973) (holding repeal resolution authorizing stadium project and selection of a contractor and other conditions incident to a building contract for stadium were administrative and outside scope of county's initiative power); Heider v. City of Seattle, 100 Wn.2d 874, 876, 675 P.2d 597 (1984) (same holding as to referendum that sought to undo a comprehensive street name ordinance); Seattle Bldg. & Const. Trades Council, 94 Wn.2d 740, 749, 620 P.2d 82 (1980) (same holding as to initiative which sought to "nullify past acts of the Mayor and City Council of Seattle with respect to the improvement of Interstate 90" and prohibit expansion of highway facilities on a lake for the accommodation of privately owned motor vehicles; "In substance, the proposal is an attempt

to reverse administrative decisions of city officials and dictate the future course of such decisions. As such it is invalid."). As in these cases, Measure 1 would both reverse or undo a city action and also require voter approval of future regulations on the same subject.

Ordinance No. 651, codified at BMC 2.26, brought City operating procedures in line with King County law enforcement policies in order to foster trust and cooperation between city personnel and law enforcement officials and immigrant communities to heighten crime prevention and public safety. *See* CP 45-46 (BMC § 2.26.010). It does this by prohibiting city personnel, including law enforcement personnel, from conditioning the provision of city services on the citizenship or immigration status of any individual or inquiring into that status. *Id.* at .020. It also prohibits city personnel from collecting information regarding the religious affiliation of any person. CP 47 (BMC § 2.26.030). These rules clearly govern how City personnel conduct their jobs, identify certain conduct City staff must not do, and do not otherwise create or limit substantive rights or benefits.

Under the foregoing authorities, Measure 1, which undoes these rules and conditions future rules on a public vote, would thus change existing administrative policy, making the measure administrative in nature and outside the scope of the initiative power.

Measure 1 is invalid because it concerns administrative matters; accordingly, the Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court's ruling that the Measure should not be placed on the ballot. Opinion at 27.

# VI. The Court of Appeals properly held that Respect Washington's arguments based on the statute of limitations and laches fail.

The Court of Appeals rulings regarding the statute of limitations and laches likewise are consistent with Court of Appeals decisions on these issues and do not justify review. The Court below and Division Three in *Global Neighborhood* considered in detail and rejected Respect Washington's arguments that the timing of the community groups' efforts to keep the repeal measures off the ballots precludes injunctive relief. Opinion at 5-9; *Global Neighborhood*, 7 Wn. App. at 380-85. These Courts of Appeal decisions are, in turn, consistent with precedent from this Court. The Petition fails to state any grounds why review of these issues is appropriate.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Respect Washington's Petition for Review fails to demonstrate that the Court of Appeals opinion conflicts with any precedent established by this Court or by the Court of Appeals. The Petition fails to demonstrate that the Court of Appeals rulings pose a "significant question of law" under the state or federal constitution, and it fails to show that there is an

issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. Therefore, under RAP 13.4 and the authority set forth above, this Court should deny review.